
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

 
 
U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING 
COMMISSION, 
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v. 
 
 
GROWTH CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
LLC, ROBERT MIHAILOVICH, SR. AND 
ROBERT MIHAILOVICH, JR.,  
  
                                   Defendants. 
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CASE NO. __________________  
 
 

 
COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, CIVIL MONETARY 

PENALTIES, AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF 
 

 Plaintiff U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“Commission” or “CFTC”) 

alleges as follows: 

I. SUMMARY 

1. Commencing in at least June 2008 and continuing through the present (the 

“relevant period”), Defendants Growth Capital Management LLC (“GCM”), a registered 

Commodity Trading Advisor (“CTA”) and Commodity Pool Operator (“CPO”), and Robert 

Mihailovich, Sr. (“Mihailovich, Sr.”) fraudulently solicited over $30 million from approximately 

93 customers to open individual managed accounts and trade on-exchange commodity futures 

and off-exchange foreign currency (“forex”) on a managed or leveraged basis pursuant to an 
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electronic trading software program and powers of attorney granted to GCM and Mihailovich, 

Sr.  In their solicitations, GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. made false and misleading material claims 

and failed to disclose material facts, including but not limited to the following: (1) falsely 

claiming that Mihailovich, Sr. had expertise and a successful track record trading commodity 

futures and forex; (2) misrepresenting and failing to disclose fully the risk of loss in trading 

commodity futures and forex; (3) falsely claiming GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. never had a losing 

trade; (4) falsely claiming that only a certain percentage of a customer’s account would be at risk 

at any one time; (5) misrepresenting that the trading being performed by the electronic trading 

system would be transparent to customers at all times; and (6) misrepresenting and failing to 

disclose Mihailovich, Sr.’s prior criminal conviction for mail fraud and his related prison time.  

2. Contrary to their claims of expertise, success, minimal to no risk, and never 

having a losing trade, GCM’s and Mihailovich Sr.’s trading on behalf of customers resulted in 

overall net losses.  

3. Defendant Robert Mihailovich, Jr. (“Mihailovich, Jr.”), the listed principal, 

president and registered Associated Person (“AP”) of GCM, failed to disclose in GCM’s 

regulatory filings required by Commission Regulations (“Regulations”) that Mihailovich, Sr. was 

a principal of GCM.    

4. By their respective fraudulent acts, Defendants GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. 

violated Sections 4b(a)(1)(A) and (C) and 4b(a)(2)(A) and (C) of the Commodity Exchange Act 

(“Act”), as amended by the Food, Conservation, and Energy Act of 2008, Pub. L. No. 110-246, 

Title XIII (subtitled “CFTC Reauthorization Act of 2008” (“CRA”)), §§ 13101-13204, 122 Stat. 
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1651 (enacted June 18, 2008),, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(A) and (C), and Section 

4o(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. 6o(1).   

5. GCM, through Mihailovich, Jr., failed to disclose in required filings with the 

Commission through the National Futures Association (“NFA”) pursuant to Regulation 

3.10(a)(2) that Mihailovich, Sr. is a principal of GCM, and thereby GCM, aided and abetted by 

Mihailovich, Jr., filed false reports to the Commission in violation of Sections 6(c) and 9(a)(3) of 

the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6k(1), 9, 15 and 13(a)(3) (2006), and Regulation 3.10(a)(2), 17 C.F.R. § 

3.10(a)(2) (2010).   

6. In soliciting prospective GCM managed account customers for commodity futures 

trading, or supervising the solicitation activities of others, Mihailovich, Sr. was required to be 

registered as an AP of GCM.  Mihailovich, Sr. was not registered as an AP of GCM in violation 

of Section 4k(3) of the Act.  By permitting Mihailovich, Sr. to engage in activities which 

required him to be registered with the Commission as an AP while it knew or should have known 

that Mihailovich, Sr. was not registered as an AP, GCM violated Section 4k(3) of the Act.   

7. In advising and directing the trading of GCM customers’ individual commodity 

futures trading accounts for compensation prior to and after the formation of GCM, Mihalovich, 

Sr. acted as a CTA without being registered as required in violation of Section 4m(1) of the Act.  

8. Mihailovich, Sr.’s and Mihailovich, Jr.’s acts, failures and omissions in violation 

of the Act and Regulations were done within the scope of their employment, agency or office 

with GCM and therefore, GCM is liable for those acts, failures and omissions in violation of the 

Act and Regulations, pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2006), and 

Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2010).  
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9. Mihailovich, Sr. controlled the day-to-day operations of GCM, solicited GCM 

customers for himself and on behalf of GCM, and traded commodity futures and forex on behalf 

of customers.  Mihailovich, Sr. is not registered as an AP of GCM or as a CTA.  As a controlling 

person of GCM and having knowingly induced the violative acts or failed to act in good faith, 

Mihailovich, Sr. is liable for GCM’s violations of the Act and Regulations pursuant to Section 

13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13b (2006). 

10. Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006), and 

Section 2(c)(2) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2), the 

Commission brings this action to enjoin Defendants’ unlawful acts and practices and to compel 

their compliance with the Act and Regulations and to further enjoin Defendants from engaging in 

any commodity-related activity.  In addition, the Commission seeks civil monetary penalties and 

remedial ancillary relief, including, but not limited to, trading and registration bans, restitution, 

disgorgement, rescission, pre- and post-judgment interest, and such other relief as the Court may 

deem necessary and appropriate. 

11. Unless restrained and enjoined by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to 

engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and similar acts and practices, as more 

fully described below. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

12. Section 6c(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006), authorizes the Commission to 

seek injunctive relief against any person whenever it shall appear to the Commission that such 

person has engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a 

violation of the Act or any rule, regulation, or order thereunder. 
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13. The Commission has jurisdiction over this matter as alleged herein pursuant to 

Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006), and Section 2(c)(2) of the Act, as amended by the 

CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2). 

14. Venue properly lies with the Court pursuant to Section 6c(e) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. 

§ 13a-1(e) (2006), because Defendants transacted business in the Northern District of Texas and 

certain of the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged occurred, are 

occurring, and/or are about to occur within this District. 

III. PARTIES 

15. Plaintiff U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent 

federal regulatory agency that is charged by Congress with the administration and enforcement 

of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq. (2006), as amended by the CRA, and the Regulations 

promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.1 et seq. (2010).  The Commission maintains its 

principal office at Three Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581. 

16. Growth Capital Management LLC is a Texas Limited Liability Company 

formed on October 14, 2008, with its principal place of business at 6218 New Forest Drive, 

Rockwall, Texas 75087.  GCM has been registered with the Commission as a CTA since 

September 2008 and as a CPO since October 2008.  GCM is not a financial institution, registered 

broker dealer (or their associated person), insurance company, bank holding company, or 

investment bank holding company.  Upon information and belief, Growth Capital 

Management Corp. (“GCMC”) is the unincorporated predecessor entity of GCM and is the 

doing business as (“dba”) name utilized by Mihailovich, Sr. prior to the formation of GCM.  

GCMC was also used as the name for the website utilized by Mihailovich, Sr. to solicit 
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prospective customers.  Based upon information and belief, GCMC and GCM are 

interchangeable and are alter egos of each other. 

17. Robert Mihailovich, Sr. resides in Rockwall, Texas and is an undisclosed 

principal of GCM.  Mihailovich, Sr. has never been registered with the CFTC.  In 2005, 

Mihailovich, Sr. pleaded guilty in the United States District Court, Northern District of Texas, 

Case Number 3:05-CR-067-N (01) to charges of mail fraud and aiding and abetting mail fraud,  

violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 & 2, arising out of a scheme involving fictitious contract 

employees of Mihailovich, Sr.’s employer who were created by Mihailovich, Sr. and for whom 

Mihailovich, Sr. collected payments in the forms of wages paid to the fictitious contract 

employees.  Mihailovich, Sr. was sentenced to serve, and in fact served, 21 months in federal 

prison and was placed on supervised release for three years after his release from prison on June 

27, 2007.  He was also ordered to pay restitution in the amount of $197,445.12.  Mihailovich, Sr. 

has paid the restitution ordered by the court.   

18. Robert Mihailovich, Jr. resides in Rockwall, Texas.  According to the records of 

the Texas Secretary of State, Mihailovich, Jr. is the purported president of GCM.   Mihailovich, 

Jr. has been registered with the Commission as an AP of GCM since September 2008 and has 

identified himself in filings with the Commission and the NFA as the only principal of GCM.  

He is the son of Mihailovich, Sr.  During the relevant period, Mihailovich, Jr. was employed full 

time with another company which has no relation to GCM.   

IV. FACTS 

A. Mihailovich, Sr.’s Fraudulent Solicitation of Customers to Trade Futures and Forex 
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19. Subsequent to his release from prison, Mihailovich, Sr. formed GCM on or about 

October 14, 2008 with Mihailovich, Jr. as its listed president.  Mihailovich, Sr. formed GCM to 

engage in the solicitation of customers to open managed individual accounts to trade on-

exchange commodity futures and off-exchange forex on a managed or leveraged basis.  Prior to 

and after the formation of GCM, Mihailovich, Sr. utilized the dba GCMC to solicit prospective 

customers through marketing materials and a website.   

20. From June 2008 until the registration of GCM with the Commission in September 

2008, Mihailovich, Sr. solicited customers personally and through his dba GCMC.  Once GCM 

was registered with the Commission, Mihailovich, Sr. transitioned to mainly using GCM instead 

of GCMC.  However, GCMC references remained in some of his marketing materials.     

21. In regulatory filings, specifically Forms 7R and 8R required to be filed with the 

Commission through the NFA, GCM, through Mihailovich, Jr. identifies Mihailovich, Jr. as the 

president and principal of GCM.  There was no disclosure in GCM’s filings concerning 

Mihailovich, Sr. and/or his involvement with GCM. 

22. However, Mihailovich, Sr. directed the day-to-day business of GCM.  

Mihailovich, Sr. solicited most, if not all, managed account customers to trade commodity 

futures and forex.  

23. Customers of GCM dealt mainly with Mihailovich, Sr. with regards to the trading 

and setting up of their accounts.  Many of GCM’s customers had no contact with Mihailovich, 

Jr., the purported president and principal of GCM.  Customers generally believed that 

Mihailovich, Sr. operated GCM and traded their accounts utilizing the GCM electronic trading 

system.  
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24. At the time they were solicited and while trading with GCM, most, if not all of, 

the customers did not know that Mihailovich, Sr. was a felon convicted of a federal mail fraud 

charge.  

25. GCM, through Mihailovich, Sr. and third party marketers, solicited prospective 

customers to open commodity futures and forex trading accounts utilizing the GCM electronic 

trading system through print ads in trade journals and through marketing and due diligence 

materials provided directly to prospective customers.  GCM also used a website to solicit 

customers.  

26. GCM, through Mihailovich, Sr., also solicited prospective customers through 

webinars, or Internet presentations, which were presented every Saturday morning.  In these 

webinars, Mihailovich, Sr. presented the GCM electronic trading system by employing graphs 

that purportedly showed trading in live commodity futures accounts and forex accounts.  

Mihailovich, Sr. claimed that his GCM electronic trading system virtually guaranteed substantial 

profits and minimized the risk of loss trading commodity futures and forex.  His recurring theme 

and reassurance was that trading using GCM’s electronic trading system was protected at all 

times from loss.    

27. GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. also solicited prospective customers through the use of 

the former GCMC website.  The GCMC website is registered to “Robert Mihailovich” and lists 

as its address Mihailovich, Sr.’s home address.  The website has been removed from the Internet 

but archived versions can still be accessed.  The website address was 

www.growthcapitalmanagementcorp.com. 
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28. The GCMC website made material misrepresentations and omissions about the 

profit potential and minimal risk of loss if customers opened an account to be traded with the 

GCM electronic trading system.  For example, the website states that a GCM account would 

have the highest transparency, i.e., a customer would be able to track their account in real time, 

face virtually negligible risk of loss and experience profits no matter what the market conditions.  

During an audit of GCM by the NFA in 2009, Mihailovich, Jr. and Mihailovich, Sr. admitted that 

GCM maintained the GCMC website.   

29. Once a customer decided to open a commodity futures trading account or forex 

account to be traded utilizing the GCM electronic trading system, a GCM representative, 

normally Mihailovich, Sr., instructed the customer to open a discretionary account at a Futures 

Commission Merchant (“FCM”) ostensibly approved by GCM.  Customers understood that 

GCM approved certain FCMs because the FCMs allegedly had trading systems compatible with 

the signals from the GCM electronic trading system.    

30. After opening individual trading accounts in their names at a FCM, the customers 

granted GCM, usually Mihailovich, Sr., the authority to trade the account on the customer’s 

behalf, by executing a power of attorney in favor of GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. as part of the 

FCM’s account opening documents.  

31. At least certain, if not all, of GCM’s customers were individuals who each had 

total assets of less than $5 million.   

32. The GCM electronic trading system is believed to function via a remote signal 

system.  The trading software purportedly sent a signal to the FCM’s system that resulted in the 

FCM placing a trade for the customer’s account.  Mihailovich, Sr. and GCM had the ability for 
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some, if not all, of the customer accounts to override the GCM electronic trading system and 

place trades manually in customer accounts. 

33. GCM, through Mihailovich, Sr., traded on-exchange futures and/or off-exchange 

forex on a leveraged or margined basis on behalf of customers in the individual managed 

accounts at the FCMs.  The forex transactions offered and/or conducted by GCM and 

Mihailovich, Sr. neither resulted in delivery within two days or created an enforceable obligation 

to deliver between a buyer and a seller that had the ability to deliver or accept delivery in 

connection with their lines of business.  Rather, the forex contracts offered or transacted were to 

and did remain open from day to day and ultimately were able to be offset without anyone 

making or taking delivery or facing an obligation to do so.    

34. GCM received commissions from the FCMs of 25 to 50 percent of the profits 

generated in customer accounts. 

35. GCM’s customers typically traded either forex or S&P E-mini stock index futures 

in their accounts.  Generally, to trade forex, a customer would have to have a minimum amount 

of $50,000.00 to $100,000.00 as an initial investment.  To trade S&P E-mini stock index futures, 

a customer had to have a minimum amount of $300,000.00 to $500,000.00 as an initial 

investment.  These amounts varied by customer.   

36. The customers’ accounts were traded mainly through the use of the electronic 

trading system by GCM; however, one customer reported that Mihailovich, Sr. manually traded 

his account by using a “mass sub-algorithm” to gain extra profits. 

B. Misrepresentations Exaggerating the Likelihood of Profit 
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37. During the relevant period, Mihailovich, Sr. and GCM, through Mihailovich, Sr., 

the GCM website and other GCM agents, commonly misrepresented the likelihood of customers 

profiting from the use of GCM’s electronic trading system to trade customers’ commodity 

futures and forex accounts.  For example, the GCM website made the follow misrepresentations 

that:  

a. “GCM would outperform any stock portfolio; any public mutual fund; 

any hedge fund; any commodity pool; and any private investment;” 

b. All “GCM managed accounts would significantly grow real cash income 

in any market climate or environment;” 

c. Accounts with GCM “would never be negatively affected by uncertain

or deteriorating and volatile market conditions” [emphasis supplied]; an

d. “income grows a

ty 

d  

t significant high yields in bull markets, bear markets 

38. nly misrepresented the profit potential 

h GCM would “return one hundred percent of 

he trading day for the 

profit].     

and sideways markets.” 

GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. further commo

of an investment with GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. during their webinar presentations.  During 

these presentations, Mihailovich, Sr. stated: 

a. that an investment wit

intraday market movement to clients of GCM;”  

b. that “it does not matter what the markets do during t

computerized trading software to make an account profitable;” and  

c. that an “investment of $1,000,000.00 would get you a $1,000,000.00” [in 
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39. ceived 

GCM marketing m  binders, which had many of the same 

ing 

sed 

egard 

 material misrepresentations and omissions in the solicitations 

 with Defendants.  

 Some prospective customers solicited by GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. re

aterials, termed as “due diligence”

misrepresentations and omissions made by the website and the webinars.  These other market

materials contained additional false and misleading statements that Defendants had never clo

a trade at a loss since the year 2000, and that Mihailovich, Sr. had over twenty years of 

continuous trading experience.  

40. GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. knew the falsity of, or acted with reckless disr

for the truth of, the above alleged

of customers to trade forex and commodity futures on their behalf. 

41. Customers and prospective customers relied on GCM’s and Mihailovich, Sr.’s 

misrepresentations and omissions in making their decisions to trade

C. Misrepresenting and Failing to Disclose Federal Felony and Imprisonment 

42. Mihailovich, Sr. routinely misrepresented and failed to disclose to prospective and 

ding and 

n 

 guilty to a charge that was “completely off the books” 

existing customers the fact that he pleaded guilty to a federal charge of mail fraud and ai

abetting mail fraud in 2005, served a prison sentence and was on supervised release for three 

years.  Most of GCM’s customers were unaware of Mihailovich, Sr.’s criminal past.  To the 

extent customers were aware, Mihailovich, Sr. misrepresented the nature, status and dispositio

of the criminal charges against him.  

43. When asked by a customer about his criminal history, Mihailovich, Sr. falsely 

informed the customer that he pleaded

because the Federal Bureau of Investigation was threatening to put his family in prison.  
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Mihailovich, Sr. further told this customer that he had won a motion and had been let out

prison.  

4

 of 

4. Mihailovich, Sr. pleaded guilty to an informational count of federal mail fraud in 

tition 

r. knew the falsity of, or acted with reckless disregard 

 

ndant GCM and Mihailovich, 

2005, served 21 months in prison and was on a three-year period of supervised release.  

Mihailovich, Sr. attempted to overturn his conviction by filing a § 2255 habeas corpus pe

claiming ineffective assistance of counsel, but that petition was denied.  Mihailovich, Sr. failed 

to disclose to prospective and current customers his past criminal conviction and subsequent 

imprisonment. 

45. GCM and Mihailovich, S

for the truth of, the above alleged material misrepresentations and omissions in the solicitations

of customers to trade forex and commodity futures on their behalf. 

46. Customers and prospective customers relied on Defe

Sr.s’ misrepresentations and omissions in making their decisions to trade with Defendants.  

D. Misrepresentations and Omissions Minimizing the Risk of Loss 

47. GCM’s and Mihailovich Sr.’s marketing materials, website, webinars and 

odity 

ing 

vant 

statements routinely failed to disclose adequately the risk of loss inherent in trading comm

futures and forex.  Defendants’ occasional references to risk of loss (such as “results not 

guaranteed”) were nullified when Defendants falsely represented that while losses on trad

commodity futures were theoretically possible, trading commodity futures and forex using 

Defendants’ electronic trading software was virtually risk free.  For example, during the rele

time period: 
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a. Mihailovich, Sr. stated during a webinar and directly to customers that no 

more than one percent (some customers were told five percent) of a 

client’s funds would ever be at risk during the trading period; 

b. Defendants’ website, webinars, marketing materials and statements made 

directly to customers represented that an investment with Defendants was 

“completely transparent in every respect” as a customer could track the 

trading in their accounts in real time and act to stop trading at anytime if 

they believed there was a potential problem or potential loss; 

c. Defendants’ website stated: “All income derivatives are liquidated at a 

profit – never a capital loss – in a properly funded hedged account;” 

d. Defendants’ marketing materials stated that their software “has never 

closed a managed position at a loss.  Not on Forex… Not on Bond 

positions… Not on the S&P… Or even on the many other types – 

commodities, stocks and indexes – it has managed over the years;” and 

e. Defendants marketing materials also stated that “Growth Capital 

Individually Managed Accounts can sustain (high) incomes in a properly 

funded account without risk of loss to the invested capital” (emphasis 

original). 

48.        These representations were false and misleading because: 

a. Customers reported that often times more than the percentage of their 

account they understood to be at risk was actually at risk.  For instan

one customer who had been told that no more than one percent of his 

ce, 
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account would be at risk reported that in fact four to seven percent of his 

capital was at risk at any one time; 

b. Customers reported that they were unable to watch their account trading 

in real time.  Customers also reported that at times Mihailovich, Sr. woul

trade their accounts manually and the customers would not be able to 

watch Mihailovich, Sr. make those trades.  Customers also reported

the trading shown in real time would not match what was reported in the

nightly statements from the FCM’s utilized by the customers; and 

c. Despite claims t

d 

 that 

 

o the contrary, some customers’ accounts lost money 

as 

net 

49. w the falsity of, or acted with reckless disregard 

 

’s and Mihailovich, Sr.’s 

while being traded by the GCM electronic trading system and overall, 

alleged below, Defendants’ trading on behalf of customers resulted in 

losses.  

GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. kne

for the truth of, the above alleged material misrepresentations and omissions in the solicitations

of customers to trade forex and commodity futures on their behalf. 

50. Customers and prospective customers relied on GCM

misrepresentations and omissions in making their decisions to trade with Defendants.  

E. GCM’s and Mihailovich, Sr.’s Performance Record 

5 ihailovich, Sr. successfully 

 

1. GCM, through Mihailovich Sr. and others, and M

solicited approximately $30 million from approximately 93 individuals to trade on-exchange

commodity futures and off-exchange forex on a leveraged or margined basis on their behalf 
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through individual managed accounts.  Over time, GCM customers withdrew approximately $26 

million from their accounts. 

52. Despite their repeated claims concerning profit and minimization of risk, GCM’s 

and Mihailovich, Sr.’s trading on behalf of customer seldom, if ever, generated the magnitude of 

profits represented by Defendants.  In fact, approximately half of Defendants GCM’s and 

Mihailovich, Sr.’s customers lost money from their investments, and overall, their trading 

resulted in net losses of approximately $2.2 million in customer accounts. 

53. From June 2008 through June 2009, GCM’s and Mihailovich, Sr.’s trading of 

forex on behalf of customers resulted in overall realized losses of approximately $711,000.  

GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. received approximately $241,000 in performance and management 

fees related to this trading.   

54. Between September 2008 and through November 2009, GCM’s and Mihailovich, 

Sr.’s trading of S&P e-mini futures resulted in realized net losses totaling approximately $1.5 

million.  GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. received approximately $147,000 in performance and 

management fees related to this trading.   

55. Despite these mounting losses, GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. continued to solicit 

new customers by highlighting the profit potential of investing with GCM using GCM’s 

proprietary trading software, without disclosing the fact that many of their customers lost most, if 

not all, of their investment; that overall GCM’s and Mihailovich, Sr.’s trading resulted in losses; 

and that Mihailovich, Sr. was a felon.  Furthermore, GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. continued to 

generate large amounts of commissions from trading their customers’ accounts.  

F. Mihailovich, Sr. is a controlling person of GCM  
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56. Mihailovich, Sr. manages and controls GCM’s daily operations.  Mihailovich, Sr. 

directed the trading in the customers’ accounts and conducted the webinar presentations.  

Mihailovich, Sr. was the main contact at GCM for customers and routinely contacted customers 

to help them set up their accounts or deal with problems.  Customers believed that Mihailovich, 

Sr. was in charge of GCM because he was the main person with whom they dealt.  Customers 

also believed that Mihailovich, Sr. was in charge of GCM because the due diligence marketing 

materials contained biographies of Mihailovich, Sr. only and stated that he had decades of 

experience trading commodity futures and forex.   

57. Many customers dealt directly with Mihailovich, Sr. when they had issues with 

their accounts.  In one instance, a customer who closed his account and revoked GCM’s ability 

to trade his account received a direct call from Mihailovich, Sr. inquiring as to why he was 

terminating his relationship with GCM.  It was the customer’s understanding that Mihailovich, 

Sr. was responsible for GCM from these contacts with Mihailovich, Sr.       

58. Upon information and belief, Mihailovich, Sr. produced the marketing materials, 

website, and webinars or directed others to produce them on his behalf.   

59. Mihailovich, Sr. routinely signed his name and social security number on 

customer account documents as the trader of those accounts.  Mihailovich, Sr. corresponded with 

the various FCMs to set up GCM’s trading program and to conduct GCM’s business with the 

FCMs.  

60. In some instances, customers signed powers of attorney which gave Mihailovich, 

Sr. specifically the power to execute trades in the customers’ accounts.  Some of these powers of 

attorney listed Mihailovich, Sr.’s home address and social security number.    
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61. Further, when initially questioned by the NFA during an audit in early 2009, 

Mihailovich, Sr. answered approximately ninety percent of the questions asked by the NFA 

examiner concerning GCM.  The NFA examiner reported that during this conference call, she 

asked multiple questions concerning GCM’s operations in preparation for a full audit.  During 

that conversation, Mihailovich, Sr. answered most of her questions and appeared to have the 

most knowledge of GCM.  The NFA examiner further reported that Mihailovich, Jr., who was 

also on the call, did not appear to know much about GCM’s business.    

62. In that same audit, Mihailovich, Jr. stated that he did not have any discretionary 

managed futures accounts for customers.  The NFA had discovered certain individual managed 

accounts for customers which GCM and “Robert Mihailovich” held trading authority over.  

When asked about these accounts by the NFA, Mihailovich, Jr. stated that he had nothing to do 

with those accounts and that they were his dad’s accounts.    

G. GCM, Through Mihailovich, Jr., Knowingly Filed a False Statement with the 
Commission and Failed to Disclose that Mihailovich, Sr. was a Principal 

 

63. When GCM sought registration with the CFTC as a CTA it was required to file a 

CFTC Form 7-R disclosing the names of all of the firm’s principals pursuant to Regulation 

3.10(a)(2).  GCM was also required to accompany its Form 7-R with Form 8-Rs for each natural 

person who is a principal of GCM.   

64. Mihailovich, Jr. on behalf GCM executed and filed a Form 7-R with the CFTC 

along with a Form 8-R for Mihailovich, Jr., but did not file a Form 8-R for Mihailovich, Sr. or 

otherwise disclose in its application that Mihailovich, Sr. was a principal of GCM. 
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65. GCM, through Mihailovich, Jr., failed to file a Form 8-R or otherwise disclose 

that Mihailovich, Sr. was a principal despite the fact that Mihailovich, Sr. directly controlled and 

managed the day to day operations of GCM. 

H. Mihailovich, Jr. Aided and Abetted the Violations by GCM  

66. Mihailovich, Jr. willfully and knowingly aided and abetted the violations by GCM 

by failing to disclose that Mihailovich, Sr. was a principal of GCM in the required regulatory 

filings with the Commission through the NFA. 

67. Specifically, Mihailovich, Jr. failed to file a Form 8-R for Mihailovich, Sr. with 

his Form 7-R as required by the Commission through the NFA.   

68. Because Mihailovich, Sr. controlled the day-to-day operations of GCM, and had 

the ability to control the business of GCM, Mihailovich, Sr. should have been listed as a 

principal of GCM. 

V. VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT AND COMMISSION 
REGULATIONS 

 
COUNT I 

Violations of Sections 4b(a)(2)(A) and (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be 
codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(A) and(C) 

(Off-Exchange Conduct: Fraudulent Solicitation) 
 

69. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 68 are realleged and 

incorporated herein by reference. 

70. Sections 4b(a)(2)(A)-(C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 

7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(A)-(C), make it unlawful 

for any person, in or in connection with any order to make, or the making of, any 
contract of sale of any commodity for future delivery, or other agreement, 
contract, or transaction subject to paragraphs (1) and (2) of section 5a(g), that is 
made, or to be made, for or on behalf of, or with, any other person, other than on 
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or subject to the rules of a designated contract market – (A) to cheat or defraud or 
attempt to cheat or defraud the other person; (B) willfully to make or cause to be 
made to the other person any false report or statement or willfully to enter or 
cause to be entered for the other person any false record; [or] (C) willfully to 
deceive or attempt to deceive the other person by any means whatsoever in regard 
to any order or contract or the disposition or execution of any order or contract, or 
in regard to any act of agency performed, with respect to any order or contact for 
or, in the case of paragraph (2), with the other person. 

 

Sections 4b(a)(2)(A) and(C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, apply to GCM’s and 

Mihailovich, Sr.’s foreign currency transactions “as if” they were a contract of sale of a 

commodity for future delivery.  Section 2(c)(2)(C)(iv) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be 

codified at 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(iv). 

71. As set forth above, from at least June 2008 through the present, in or in 

connection with forex, made, or to be made, for or on behalf of, or with, other persons, 

Mihailovich, Sr. and GCM cheated or defrauded or attempted to cheat or defraud customers or 

prospective customers and willfully deceived or attempted to deceive customers or prospective 

customers by, among other things, knowingly (i) misrepresenting the likelihood of profit to be 

gained from the use of GCM’s electronic trading system; (ii) misrepresenting and omitting the 

risk of loss of trading commodities utilizing GCM’s electronic trading system; (iii) 

misrepresenting GCM’s and Mihailovich, Sr.’s experience and trading record; (iv) falsely 

claiming never to have a losing trade; (v) falsely claiming that only a certain percentage of 

customer’s funds would be at risk at any one time; (vi) misrepresenting that the trading being 

performed by the electronic trading system would be transparent to customers at all times; and 

(vii) misrepresenting and failing to disclose Mihailovich Sr.’s prior criminal conviction for mail 
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fraud and related prison sentence, all in violation of Sections 4b(a)(2)(A) and (C) of the Act as 

amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(A) and (C). 

72. GCM, by and through its agents, and Mihailovich, Sr. engaged in the acts and 

practices described above knowingly or with reckless disregard for the truth. 

73. Mihailovich, Sr. controlled GCM, directly or indirectly, and did not act in good 

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, GCM's conduct alleged in this Complaint; 

therefore, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006), Mihailovich, Sr. is 

liable for GCM's violations of Sections 4b(a)(2)(A) and (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, 

to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(A) and(C). 

74. The foregoing acts, misrepresentations, omissions, and failures of Mihailovich, 

Sr. occurred within the scope of his employment, office or agency with GCM; therefore, GCM is 

liable for these acts, misrepresentations, omissions, and failures pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of 

the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2006), and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2010). 

75. Each act of misrepresentation or omission of material facts, including but not 

limited to those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of 

Sections 4b(a)(2)(A) and(C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 

6b(a)(2)(A) and(C). 

 

 

COUNT II 

Violations of Sections 4b(a)(1)(A) and (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be 
codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A) and(C) 

(On-Exchange Conduct: Fraudulent Solicitation) 
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76. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 75 are realleged and 

incorporated herein by reference. 

77. Sections 4b(a)(1)(A)-(C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 

7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A)-(C), make it unlawful: 

for any person, in or in connection with any order to make, or the 
making of, any contract of sale of any commodity in interstate 
commerce or for future delivery that is made, or to be made, on or 
subject to the rules of a designated contract market, for or on 
behalf of any other person . . . (A) to cheat or defraud or attempt to 
cheat or defraud the other person; (B) willfully to make or cause to 
be made to the other person any false report or statement or 
willfully to enter or cause to be entered for the other person any 
false record; (C) willfully to deceive or attempt to deceive the 
other person by any means whatsoever in regard to the disposition 
or execution of any order or contract, or in regard to any act of 
agency performed, with respect to any order or contract for . . . the 
other person . . . 
 

78. As set forth above, from at least June 2008 through the present, in or in 

connection with commodity futures, made, or to be made, for or on behalf of, or with, other 

persons, Defendants Mihailovich, Sr. and GCM cheated or defrauded or attempted to cheat or 

defraud customers or prospective customers and willfully deceived or attempted to deceive 

customers or prospective customers by, among other things, knowingly (i) misrepresenting the 

likelihood of profit to be gained from the use of GCM’s electronic trading system; (ii) 

misrepresenting and omitting the risk of loss of trading commodities utilizing GCM’s electronic 

trading system; (iii) misrepresenting GCM’s and Mihailovich, Sr.’s experience and trading 

record; (iv) falsely claiming never to have a losing trade; (v) falsely claiming that only a certain 

percentage of customer’s funds would be at risk at any one time; (vi) misrepresenting that the 

trading being performed by the electronic trading system would be transparent to customers at all 
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times; and (vii) misrepresenting and failing to disclose Mihailovich, Sr.’s prior criminal 

conviction for mail fraud and related prison sentence, all in violation of Sections 4b(a)(1)(A) and 

(C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A) and (C). 

79. GCM, by and through its agents, and Mihailovich, Sr. engaged in the acts and 

practices described above knowingly or with reckless disregard for the truth. 

80. Mihailovich, Sr. controlled GCM, directly or indirectly, and did not act in good 

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, GCM's conduct alleged in this Complaint; 

therefore, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006), Mihailovich, Sr. is 

liable for GCM's violations of Sections 4b(a)(1)(A) and (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, 

to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A) and(C). 

81. The foregoing acts, misrepresentations, omissions, and failures of Mihailovich, 

Sr. occurred within the scope of his employment, office or agency with GCM; therefore, GCM is 

liable for these acts, misrepresentations, omissions, and failures pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of 

the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2006), and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2010). 

82. Each act of misrepresentation or omission of material facts, including but not 

limited to those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of 

Sections 4b(a)(1)(A) and(C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 

6b(a)(1)(A) and(C). 

COUNT III 

Violation of Section 4o(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6o(1) (2006) 
(Fraud by a Commodity Trading Advisor and  

Associated Person of a Commodity Trading Advisor) 
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83. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 82 are realleged and 

incorporated herein by reference.  

84. From at least June 2008 through the present, in or in connection with forex and 

commodity futures, made, or to be made, for or on behalf of, or with, other persons, GCM, while 

acting as a CTA, and Mihailovich, Sr., while acting as an AP and CTA, violated Section 4o(1) of 

the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6o(1) (2006), in that GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. directly or indirectly 

employed and is employing, a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud customers or potential 

customers, or has engaged and is engaging in transactions, practices or a course of business 

which operated as a fraud or deceit upon customers or prospective customers by, among other 

acts, knowingly or recklessly (i) misrepresenting the likelihood of profit to be gained from the 

use of GCM’s  electronic trading system; (ii) misrepresenting and omitting the risk of loss of 

trading commodities utilizing GCM’s electronic trading system; (iii) misrepresenting GCM’s and 

Mihailovich, Sr.’s experience and trading record; (iv) falsely claiming never to have a losing 

trade; (v) falsely claiming that only a certain percentage of customer’s funds would be at risk at 

any one time; (vi) misrepresenting that the trading being performed by the electronic trading 

system would be transparent to customers at all times; and (vii) misrepresenting and failing to 

disclose Mihailovich, Sr.’s prior criminal conviction for mail fraud and related prison sentence. 

85. GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. perpetrated the foregoing acts by use of the mails and 

other means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, directly or indirectly. 

86. GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. each engaged in the acts and practices herein 

knowingly or with reckless disregard for the truth. 

 
 
 

24

Case 3:10-cv-01473-B   Document 1    Filed 07/27/10    Page 24 of 35   PageID 24



87. The foregoing acts, misrepresentations, omissions, and failures of Mihailovich, 

Sr. occurred within the scope of his employment, office or agency with GCM; therefore, GCM is 

liable for these acts, misrepresentations, omissions, and failures pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of 

the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2006), and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2010). 

88. Mihailovich, Sr. controlled GCM, directly or indirectly, and did not act in good 

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, GCM’s conduct alleged in this Count.  

Therefore, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006), Mihailovich, Sr. is 

liable for GCM’s violations Section 4o(1) of the Act. 

89. Each misrepresentation or omission of material fact, including but not limited to 

those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Section 4o(1) of 

the Act. 

COUNT IV 
 

Violations of Sections 6(c) and 9a(3) of the Act and Regulation 3.10(a)(2) 
(GCM and Mihailovich, Jr. Knowingly Filed a False CTA Application for Registration 

with the Commission and Failed to Disclose a Principal) 
 

90. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 89 are realleged and 

incorporated herein by reference. 

91. Section 6(c) of the Act, 7 U.S.C § 9(c) (2006), authorizes the Commission to 

serve a complaint and provide for the imposition of, among other things, fines and penalties “[I]f 

the Commission has reason to believe that any person… has willfully made any false or 

misleading statement  of a material fact in any… report filed with the Commission under this 

Act, or willfully omitted to state in any such… report any material fact which is required to be 

stated therein…” 
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92. Section 9(a)(3) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. 13(a)(1) (2006), makes it a violation for 

“[a]ny person knowingly to make, or cause to be made, any statement in any… report, or 

document required to be filed under this Act or any rule or regulation thereunder…, which 

statement was false or misleading with respect to any material fact, or knowingly to omit any 

material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not 

misleading.” 

93. Regulation 3.10(a)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 3.10(a)(1) (2010) requires in relevant part, that 

applications for registration as a CTA be filed with the CFTC through the NFA on Form 7-R.  

Regulation 3.10(a)(2) requires that each Form 7-R so filed be accompanied by a Form 8-R for 

each natural person who is a principal of the applicant.  Regulation 3.1(a) includes within the 

definition of principal any person “having the power, directly or indirectly, through agreement or 

otherwise, to exercise a controlling influence over the entity’s activities that are subject to 

regulation by the Commission.”   

94. GCM and Mihailovich, Jr. violated Sections 6(c) and 9(a)(3) of the Act and 

Regulation 3.10(a)(2) by knowingly omitting required information from their registration forms, 

namely, a Form 8-R application for Mihailovich, Sr. disclosing that he had been a principal of 

GCM since the inception of GCM because he managed the daily operations of GCM, directed 

trading and marketing at GCM and has an ownership interest in GCM.   

95. The actions, omissions and failures of Mihailovich, Jr. as described in this Count, 

were done within the scope of his employment with GCM and, therefore, GCM is liable for 

Mihailovich, Jr.’s acts, omissions and failures constituting violations as alleged in this Count, 
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pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2006), and Regulation 1.2, 17 

C.F.R. § 1.2 (2010).   

96. Mihailovich, Sr. controlled GCM, directly or indirectly, and did not act in good 

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, GCM's conduct alleged in this Count; 

therefore, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006), Mihailovich, Sr. is 

liable for GCM's violations of Sections 6(c) and 9a(3) of the Act, codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 13, 9 

and Regulation 3.10(a). 

97. Mihailovich, Jr. has willfully aided, abetted, counseled, commanded, induced, 

procured, caused or acted in combination or concert with other persons in the foregoing 

violations of the Act and the Regulations by GCM.  Mihailovich, Jr. is therefore responsible for 

these violations by operation of Section 13(a) of the Act, 7. U.S.C § 13c(a).   

COUNT V 

Violations of Section 4k(3) 
(Acting as an Unregistered Associated Person and Permitting an Unregistered Associated 

Person to Remain Associated in a Capacity Requiring Registration) 
 

98. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 97 are realleged and 

incorporated herein by reference. 

99. In soliciting prospective customers for commodity futures trading on behalf of 

GCM and by being associated with GCM, Mihailovich, Sr. acted as an AP of GCM without the 

benefit of registration, in violation of Section 4k(3) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6k(3) (2006).   

100. The foregoing failure of Mihailovich, Sr. to register as an AP occurred within the 

scope of Mihailovich, Sr.’s employment or office with GCM.  GCM is therefore liable for 

Mihailovich, Sr.’s acts and failures in violation of Section 4k(3) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6k(3) 
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(2006), pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2006), and Regulation 

1.2 , 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2010).   

101. GCM permitted Mihailovich, Sr. to become or remain associated with GCM when 

it knew or should have known that Mihailovich, Sr. was not registered with the Commission.  

Therefore, GCM violated Section 4k(3), 7 U.S.C. § 6k(3) (2006).   

102. Mihailovich, Sr. controls GCM, directly or indirectly, and did not act in good 

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, GCM's conduct alleged in this Count; 

therefore, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006), Mihailovich, Sr. is 

liable for GCM's violations of Section 4k(3) of the Act, codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6k(3). 

COUNT VI 

Violation of Section 4m(1) of the Act 
(Failure to Register as a Commodity Trading Advisor) 

 
103. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 102 are realleged and 

incorporated herein by reference. 

104. Section 1a(6) of the Act, 7 C.F.R. § 1a(6) (2006), in relevant part, defines the 

term CTA as any person who “for compensation or profit, engages in the business of advising 

others, either directly or through publications, writings, or electronic media, as to the value of or 

the advisability of trading in” futures. 

105. Mihailovich, Sr. was in the business of trading commodities on behalf of 

customers of GCM and advising investors as to the advisability of commodity futures trading.  

Mihailovich, Sr. further held himself out as a commodity trading advisor to the public.  

Mihailovich, Sr. further managed and directed the commodity futures trading on behalf of GCM 
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and GCM’s customers for compensation or profit.  By such conduct, Mihailovich, Sr. acted as a 

CTA. 

106. Mihailovich, Sr. used the mails or instrumentalities of interstate commerce in or 

in connection with his business as a CTA while failing to register with the Commission as a CTA 

during his trading activities on behalf of customers through his dba from June 2008 until 

September 2008, in violation of Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006). 

107. Mihailovich, Sr. directly or indirectly, controlled GCM and did not act in good 

faith, or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting GCM’s violations of 

Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1)(2006).  Mihailovich, Sr. is therefore liable for these 

violations pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006).  

VI. RELIEF REQUESTED 

  WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court, as authorized by 

Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006), and pursuant to its own equitable powers, enter: 

a) An order finding that Defendants GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. violated Sections 

4b(a)(1)(A) and (C) and Sections 4b(a)(2)(A) and(C) as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 

U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A) and (C) and 6b(a)(2)(A) and(C); that GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. violated 

Section 4o(1), 7 U.S.C. § 6o(1); that GCM directly, and Mihailovich, Jr. directly and through 

aiding and abetting GCM, pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(a), violated 

Sections 9a(3) and 6(c) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6k(1), 9, 15 and 13(a)(3) (2006), and Regulation 

3.10(a)(2), 17 C.F.R. § 3.10(a)(2) (2010); that Mihailovich, Sr. and GCM violated Section 4k(3), 

7 U.S.C § 6k(3) (2006); and Mihailovich, Sr. and GCM  violated Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 

U.S.C. § 6m (2006);  
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b) An order of permanent injunction prohibiting GCM and Mihailovich, Sr. and any 

of their agents, servants, employees, assigns, attorneys, and persons in active concert or 

participation with any defendant, including any successor thereof, from engaging, directly or 

indirectly: 

(i) in conduct in violation of Sections 4b(a)(2)(A) and(C) of the Act, as 

amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(A) and(C); 

(ii) in conduct in violation of Sections 4b(a)(1)(A) and (C) of the Act, as 

amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A) and (C); 

(iii) in conduct in violation of Section 4o(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6o(1) 

(2006); 

(iv) in conduct in violation of Sections 9a(3) and 6(c), 7 U.S.C. §§ 6k(1), 9, 15 

and 13(a)(3) (2006), and Regulation 3.10(a)(2), 17 C.F.R. § 3.10(a)(2) 

(2010); 

(v) in conduct in violation of Section 4k(3), 7 U.S.C § 6k(3) and (iii) (2006); 

(vi) in conduct that violates Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C § 6m (2006); 

(vii) in trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, as that term is 

defined in Section 1a(29) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(29) (2006); 

(viii) entering into any transactions involving commodity futures, options on 

commodity futures, commodity options (as that term is defined in 

Regulation 32.1(b)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 32.1(b)(1)) (2010) (“commodity 

options”), and/or foreign currency (as described in Sections 2(c)(2)(B) and 

2(c)(2)(C)(i) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 

 
 
 

30

Case 3:10-cv-01473-B   Document 1    Filed 07/27/10    Page 30 of 35   PageID 30



U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)(i)) (“forex contracts”) for any 

personal or proprietary account or for any account in which they have a 

direct or indirect interest; 

(ix) having any commodity futures, options on commodity futures, commodity 

options, and/or forex contracts traded on their behalf; 

(x) controlling or directing the trading for or on behalf of any other person or 

entity, whether by power of attorney or otherwise, in any account 

involving commodity futures, options on commodity futures, commodity 

options, and/or forex contracts; 

(xi) soliciting, receiving, or accepting any funds from any person for the 

purpose of purchasing or selling any commodity futures, options on 

commodity futures, commodity options, and/or forex contracts;  

(xii) applying for registration or claiming exemption from registration with the 

Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any activity requiring such 

registration or exemption from registration with the Commission, except 

as provided for in Regulation 4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2010); 

and 

(xiii) acting as a principal (as that term is defined in Regulation 3.1(a), 17 

C.F.R. § 3.1(a)(2010)), agent or any other officer or employee of any 

person (as that term is defined in Section 1a(28) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 

1a(28) (2006)) registered, exempted from registration or required to be 
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registered with the Commission, except as provided for in Regulation 

4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2010); 

c) An order of permanent injunction prohibiting Defendant Mihailovich, Jr. and any 

of his agents, servants, employees, assigns, attorneys, and persons in active concert or participation 

with any defendant, including any successor thereof, from engaging, directly or indirectly: 

(i) in conduct in violation of Sections 9a(3) and 6(c) and Regulation 

3.10(a)(2), 7 U.S.C. §§ 6k(1), 9, 15 and 13(a)(3) (2006), 17 C.F.R. § 

3.10(a)(2) (2010) directly and pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Act, 7 

U.S.C. § 13c(a); 

(ii) trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, as that term is 

defined in Section 1a(29) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(29) (2006); 

(iii) entering into any transactions involving commodity futures, options on 

commodity futures, commodity options (as that term is defined in 

Regulation 32.1(b)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 32.1(b)(1)) (2010) (“commodity 

options”), and/or foreign currency (as described in Sections 2(c)(2)(B) and 

2(c)(2)(C)(i) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 

U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)(i)) (“forex contracts”) for any 

personal or proprietary account or for any account in which he has a direct 

or indirect interest; 

(iv) having any commodity futures, options on commodity futures, commodity 

options, and/or forex contracts traded on his behalf; 
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(v) controlling or directing the trading for or on behalf of any other person or 

entity, whether by power of attorney or otherwise, in any account 

involving commodity futures, options on commodity futures, commodity 

options, and/or forex contracts; 

(vi) soliciting, receiving, or accepting any funds from any person for the 

purpose of purchasing or selling any commodity futures, options on 

commodity futures, commodity options, and/or forex contracts;  

(vii) applying for registration or claiming exemption from registration with the 

Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any activity requiring such 

registration or exemption from registration with the Commission, except 

as provided for in Regulation 4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2010); 

and acting as a principal (as that term is defined in Regulation 3.1(a), 17 

C.F.R. § 3.1(a)(2010)), agent or any other officer or employee of any 

person (as that term is defined in Section 1a(28) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 

1a(28) (2006)) registered, exempted from registration or required to be 

registered with the Commission, except as provided for in Regulation 

4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2010); 

d) An order directing Defendants, as well as any successors to any defendant or 

relief defendant, to disgorge, pursuant to such procedure as the Court may order, all benefits 

received from the acts or practices which constitute violations of the Act, as described herein, 

and pre- and post-judgment interest thereon from the date of such violations; 
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e) An order directing Defendants to make full restitution to every person or entity 

whose funds Defendants received or caused another person or entity to receive as a result of acts 

and practices that constituted violations of the Act, as described herein, and pre- and post-

judgment interest thereon from the date of such violations; 

f) An order directing Defendants and any successors thereof, to rescind, pursuant to 

such procedures as the Court may order, all contracts and agreements, whether implied or 

express, entered into between them and any of the customers whose funds were received by them 

as a result of the acts and practices which constituted violations of the Act, as described herein; 

g) An order directing each Defendant to pay a civil monetary penalty for each 

violation of the Act and Regulations described herein, plus post-judgment interest, in the amount 

of the higher of: $140,000 for each violation of the Act and Regulations committed on or after 

October 23, 2008; $130,000 for each violation of the Act committed on or between October 23, 

2004 and October 22, 2008; or triple the monetary gain to each defendant for each violation of 

the Act and Regulations described herein, plus post-judgment interest; 

h) An order requiring Defendants to pay costs and fees as permitted by 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1920 and 2412(a)(2) (2006); and  

i) Such other and further relief as the Court deems proper. 

Dated: July 27, 2010 
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Respectfully submitted by, 

 
/s/Stephen T. Tsai_________________ 
Gretchen L. Lowe 
Associate Director, DC Bar No. 421995 
Anne M. Termine 
Chief Trial Attorney, LA Bar No. 26530 
Stephen T. Tsai  
Trial Attorney, OH Bar No. 0080803 
Philip Tumminio 
Trial Attorney, DC Bar No. 985624 

      U.S. Commodity Futures  
Trading Commission 
Division of Enforcement 
Three Lafayette Centre 
1151 21st Street NW 
Washington, DC 20581 
(202) 418-5324 (Tsai) 
(202) 418-5538 (fax) 
stsai@cftc.gov 
ptumminio@cftc.gov 
 

      Lisa R. Hasday 
      Assistant U.S. Attorney 
      U.S. Attorney’s Office for the  
      Northern District of Texas 
      1100 Commerce Street, Third Floor 
      Dallas, TX 75242-1699 
      (214) 659-8737 
      (214) 767-2916 (fax) 
      Lisa.Hasday@usdoj.gov 
 
      Counsel for Plaintiff 
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